THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Gordon G. Cooper, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2014-000605

Senneka Trading Incorporated,

Respondent,

v.

George O. Nwachukwu, Eleke Ijioma
Celtex Export Corporation, Celtex,
Inc., and Josling Inc.

Defendants,

v.

Of Whom George O. Nwachukwu and Josling Inc. are the Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

RECEIVED

JUN 09 2014

3C Court of Appeals

Thomas A. Belenchia
T. Camden Shealy
A BUSINESS LAW FIRM, LLC
Post Office Box 3421
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29304
(864) 699-9801
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The lower court erred in granting the Respondent possession of goods that the Respondent could not identify as goods that the Respondent had purchased.
2. The lower court erred in granting the Respondent possession of goods that were purchased by the Appellants from a third-party.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, George Nwachukwu, was born in Nigeria. (Dec. 17 Transcript, page 70, lines 24-25). His father died when he was six years old. (Dec. 17 Transcript, page 71, line 3). His mother sold him into slavery because she could not feed both George and his sisters. (Dec. 17 Transcript, page 71, lines 4-10). His masters fed him, but provided no formal education. (Id.) After a war in Nigeria, George was taken to Togo, West Africa by his uncles. While in Togo and selling t-shirts to survive, George met a Danish man. The Danish man enlisted George to sell textiles. George gained some literacy and eventually moved to the United States. (Dec. 17 Transcript, p. 71, lines 21-25 through p. 72, lines 1-16). George was able to read the words written in the Spartanburg County courthouse and believed, “God will give us authority to honor justice to any individual” regardless of that person’s beginnings. (Dec. 17 Transcript, p. 70, lines 14-18). George argues that the lower court decision is an injustice and, contrary to the Respondent’s statement, the facts and the truth are the same.¹

1. The evidence presented at trial.

On or about October 2012, Cottonall, Inc. (the “Seller”) started selling textiles from six (6) or more buildings in Walkertown, North Carolina (often referred to hereinafter as “Walkertown goods”). (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 22, lines 24-25; Id. at lines 9-10; Dec. 17 Transcript p. 161, lines 23-24). The Seller contacted the Appellants (often referred to hereinafter as the “First Buyers”) and other buyers to purchase Walkertown goods. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 166, lines 19-22). The First Buyers began purchasing goods on November 30, 2012. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 75, lines 9-14)

The Seller was under a deadline to dispose of all the goods and asked the First Buyers about buying goods from Walkertown more quickly. (Dec 17 Transcript p. 77, lines 19-22). The First Buyers told the Seller that they were unable to process many more goods on their own, but would contact the Respondent (often referred to hereinafter as the “Second Buyer”) about purchasing Walkertown goods. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 78, lines 2-7). The Second Buyer was

¹ The Respondent testified that “Facts are different from the truth.” (Oct. 2 Transcript, p. 83, line 25).

one of the First Buyers' customers for whom the First Buyers sorted and baled² goods to be shipped to Africa. (Oct 1 Transcript p. 17, lines 3-7).

The First Buyers called and told the Second Buyer that there was an opportunity to purchase 500,000 pounds of goods from Walkertown. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 21, lines 3-7). In January of 2013, the First Buyers took the Second Buyer to meet the Seller's representatives and viewed goods from five buildings. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 22, lines 9-12). The Second Buyer negotiated with the Seller to purchase goods from the five buildings at a graduated price, renegotiating for lower quality goods once the higher priced goods were depleted. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 24, lines 16-23).

The Second Buyer agreed to pay First Buyers a 3 cent commission for every pound of Walkertown goods purchased by the Second Buyer and 3 cents for every pound of goods the First Buyers baled for the Second Buyer. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 25, lines 3-6). The Second Buyer began buying goods on or about January 23, 2013. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 21, line 25, p. 22, lines 1-13). The First Buyers would unload, sort, and bale goods that the Second Buyer had purchased from Walkertown and shipped to Spartanburg. (Oct 1 Transcript p. 37, lines 4-12). The First Buyers would transport the baled goods to the Second Buyer's warehouse and load them onto the Second Buyer's shipping containers. The shipping containers were then driven to seaports and shipped overseas. (Id.; Dec. 17 Transcript p. 6, lines 22-25, p. 7, lines 1-25; Dec. 16 Transcript p. 4, lines 4-8).

The Seller and the Second Buyer had a dispute in early April 2013. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 173, lines 23-25 through p. 174, lines 1-25, through p. 175, lines 1-16). The Seller claimed that the Second Buyer owed the Seller money, but the Second Buyer claimed to have overpaid the Seller by \$40,000. (Id.). The disagreement was resolved on or about April 15, 2013 when the Second Buyer agreed to pay the Seller \$15,346.34. The Seller refused to sell any more goods to the Second Buyer or do anymore business with the Second Buyer. (Dec. 17 Transcript 174, lines 23-25, p. 175, lines 1-6, lines 15-16).

The Seller continued selling goods to the First Buyers. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 175, lines 10-14). The Seller told the First Buyers of goods in another building on the estate property that

² Baling is the process of tightly packing textiles with wiring and chords, and sometimes wrapping. The textile goods are shipped for a flat fee on shipping containers. Baling maximizes profit by maximizing the amount of goods that can fit into a shipping container.

was not among the five (5) buildings from which the Second Buyer had seen or purchased goods (the “sixth building”). (Dec. 17 p. 161, lines 16-24). The goods were indistinguishable from other goods at the Walkertown site. (Dec 17 Transcript p. 171, lines 16-25, p. 172 lines 1-25, p. 173, line 1). Steve Brown, a representative from the Seller, testified that the Seller sold the First Buyers at least four (4) trailers of goods after the April 15, 2013 settlement with the Second Buyer from the sixth building.³ (Dec. 17 p. 161, lines 16-25, through p. 162, lines 1-12). Contrary to testimony from the Seller’s representative, the Second Buyer testified that the goods on three of the four trailers came from the original five (5) buildings. (Dec. 16 Transcript p. 51, lines 9-20).

On May 8, 2013, the Second Buyer had a phone conversation with one of the First Buyers’ workers. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 49, lines 8-10; p. Dec. 16 Transcript p. 113, lines 13-16). During the conversation, the Second Buyer inquired about whether his goods were being loaded onto his shipping container. The worker “just told [the Second Buyer] something wasn’t right.” (Dec. 16 Transcript p. 101, lines 20-21). The worker thought that all goods coming from Walkertown belonged to the Second Buyer. (Dec. 16 Transcript p. 115, lines 4-10). The workers did not know that the First Buyers had a separate contract with the Seller to purchase Walkertown goods. (Id.). The worker testified at trial that he saw roughly a dozen bales being set aside in the First Buyers’ warehouse rather than taken to the Second Buyer’s warehouse. (Dec. 16 Transcript p. 100, lines 21-25).

The Second Buyer convinced police to lock its warehouse after its conversation with the First Buyers’ worker and accused the First Buyers of stealing 150,000 pounds of the Second Buyer’s goods. (Dec. 16 Transcript p. 12, lines 17-20, p. 13 lines 18-25; Defendants’ Exhibit 8, Incident Report p. 2). Investigator Stokes of the Spartanburg City Police Department was assigned the case on May 14, 2013. (Defendants’ Exhibit 8, Incident Report p. 1). The Second Buyer hired an attorney who contacted US Customs and placed a hold on three shipping containers belonging to the First Buyers at the Port of Savannah that were scheduled to ship to Nigeria.⁴ (Defendants’ Exhibit 8, Incident Report p. 6 paragraph 8). Those three shipping containers represented the vast majority of the First Buyers’ business. (June 7 Transcript p. 19,

³ Trailer number 53105 was purchased on April 16, 2013. Trailer number 175 was purchased on April 23, 2013. Trailer number 5383 was purchased on April 28, 2013. Trailer number 5350 was purchased on April 30, 2013. (Defendants’ Exhibit 14).

⁴ The three shipping containers were identified as PONU 749556-6, PONU 764375-0, and MRKU 2080225.

lines 12-14). The Second Buyer alleged that the 150,000 pounds of the Respondent's allegedly missing Walkertown goods were on the three containers. (Defendants' Exhibit 8, Incident Report p. 5, paragraph 8).

When the Investigator visited the First Buyers' warehouse, the First Buyers showed and/or indicated to the Investigator that many of the Second Buyer's Walkertown goods were still in the First Buyers' and Second Buyer's warehouses.⁵ The investigation was closed on June 3, 2013, when the Investigator determined that the documentation provided by the Second Buyer was insufficient to prove that any of the Second Buyer's goods were missing and that the Second Buyer had provided some duplicates of documents to support its numbers. (Defendants' Exhibit 8, Incident Report p. 6 paragraph 5).

On May 31, 2013 the Second Buyer obtained a Temporary Restraining Order that caused the First Buyers' three shipping containers to be brought back to Spartanburg from Port of Savannah and stored in the Second Buyer's and First Buyers' warehouses. (Dec. 17 Transcript, p. 186, lines 16-18; Temporary Restraining Order).

2. Procedural History

On May 31, 2013, the Second Buyer filed a Verified Complaint with the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. The Second Buyer claimed that the First Buyers took some of the Second Buyer's goods and put them on the three shipping containers. On the same day, the Second Buyer received a Temporary Restraining Order from the Honorable J. Derham Cole that stopped the First Buyers' three shipping containers from leaving the Port of Savannah for Nigeria and directed them to be taken back to Spartanburg. The contents from roughly one and a half of the containers were placed in the Second Buyer's warehouse and the remaining contents were placed in the First Buyers' warehouse. The Temporary Restraining Order remained in effect until an Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Temporary Injunction was filed on June 27, 2013 by the Honorable J. Derham Cole, granting the Second Buyer a Temporary Injunction and

⁵ 48,020 pounds of the Walkertown goods the Respondent claimed to have paid for were still in the Appellants' warehouse. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 105, lines 18-24) Three air conditioners from Walkertown were in the Respondent's warehouse. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 174, lines 24-25, Defendant's Exhibit 8, Incident Report p. 5, paragraph 9). Between 10 to at least 15 racks of the Respondent's Walkertown goods that could have weighed between 2,000 and 3,000 pounds each were in the Respondent's warehouse. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 44, lines 10-21; p. 110, lines 2-16) There were 10 to at least 15 bales of Respondent's goods left in the Respondent's warehouse that could have weighed between 1,000 and 1,400 pounds. (Id.) There were two (2) unloaded trailers of goods parked between the parties' warehouses. (Defendant's Exhibit 8, Incident Report, p. 5, paragraph 9). The trailers shipped in April 2013 weighed roughly 31,000 to 40,000 pounds. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 4).

issuing a \$40,000 bond. The Temporary Injunction was amended on July 9, 2013. The First Buyers filed their Answer and Counterclaims on July 16, 2013. The nature of the First Buyers' defense was that it owned the goods on the three containers and the First Buyers had a claim related to the Second Buyer's assault of the Appellant George. An Order of Reference, referring the case to Gordon G. Cooper, the Master-In-Equity for Spartanburg County, was issued by the Honorable J. Derham Cole on July 19, 2013. The Second Buyer served their Reply to First Buyers on July 26, 2013. A Consent Scheduling Order was filed on July 30, 2013 regarding discovery issues and a trial date. The First Buyers filed a Motion to Compel Discovery on September 6, 2013. On September 12, 2013, a Consent Order for Plaintiff's Substitution of Counsel was signed by all counsel and entered by the Honorable Gordon G. Cooper, Master-In-Equity for Spartanburg County, changing the Second Buyer's counsel from Eric A. Nodine to Matthew A. Henderson. A hearing for the First Buyers Motion to Compel was held on September 24, 2013 and an Order granting the motion was entered on September 30, 2013. The trial for this case was scheduled to be heard before the Master on October 1 and 2, 2013, but the Second Buyer's testimony alone took both of those days, and the trial was continued to December 16 and 17, 2013, with Second Buyer's initial testimony ending near the end of the third day of trial, December 16, and continuing after close of the First Buyers' case on the last day of trial, December 17. The First Buyers moved for a directed verdict at the close of the Second Buyer's case, on December 17, after the testimony of Billy Johnson, the Second Buyer's employee. The Master filed and served a 5 page order two days later on December 19, 2013, which Order the First Buyers are now appealing. The Master's order granted the Second Buyer ownership and possession of the goods from the three containers and gave the First Buyers possession of 48,000 pounds of goods from Walkertown that were not from the three containers, but were sitting in the First Buyers' warehouse. The First Buyers filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend Judgment on December 23, 2013. Judge Cooper entered a Corrective Order that changed Watertown, the name of the town consistently mentioned throughout the December 19th Order, to Walkertown, the correct name of the town in North Carolina from where the goods were purchased. A hearing on the Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend Judgment was held on February 4, 2014. The lower court filed an Order denying the Motion on February 20, 2014, which Order the First Buyers are also now appealing. The amount involved on appeal is approximately three hundred thousand dollars (\$300,000), which is the Second Buyer's

estimated retail value of the goods on the three shipping containers. (Second Buyer's Complaint). The First Buyers served the Notice of Appeal on March 17, 2014 and received the final transcripts on May 7, 2014. The issues on appeal have been preserved.⁶

3. Standard of Review

The lower court's order from the final hearing did not specify the cause of action for which the Second Buyer received relief. However, the order held that the Second Buyer owned the contents of the three shipping containers, ordered the First Buyers to deliver the contents to the Second Buyer's warehouse, and required the Second Buyer to pay the First Buyers for baling of the goods and commissions. Therefore, the lower court specifically enforced what it viewed as the contract between the parties.

"An action for specific performance is one in equity. Lewis v. Premium Inv. Corp., 351 S.C. 167, 170 n. 2, 568 S.E.2d 361, 362 n. 2 (2002); Wright v. Trask, 329 S.C. 170, 176, 263, 495 S.E.2d 222, 225 (Ct.App.1997)... 'It is now well settled that this court has jurisdiction in appeals in equity cases to find the facts in accord with our view of the preponderance or greater weight of the evidence, in the absence of a verdict by a jury; and may reverse a factual finding by the lower court in such cases when the appellant satisfies this court that the finding is against the preponderance of the evidence.'" Crowder v. Crowder, 246 S.C. 299, 301, 143 S.E.2d 580, 581 (1965)."

⁶ February 4 Transcript, p. 2, lines 18-19; February 4 Transcript, p. 4, lines 16-18;

ARGUMENTS

1. BECAUSE THE RESPONDENT COULD NOT SHOW THAT IT HAD PURCHASED THE GOODS FROM THE THREE CONTAINERS, THE TRIAL COURT COULD NOT PROPERLY GRANT THE RESPONDENT POSSESSION OF THE GOODS FROM THE THREE CONTAINERS.

The lower court made errors of fact and law when it determined that the Second Buyer owned the goods from three trailers purchased after April 16, 2013 and assumed from that determination that the Second Buyer owned the goods on the three shipping containers.⁷ The trailers and the shipping containers are different things. Trailers were used to transport goods from Walkertown to Spartanburg. Shipping containers weighed nearly twice as much and were driven to seaports from Spartanburg for overseas shipment.

The lower court's orders which compelled the First Buyers to deliver the goods on the three shipping containers to the Second Buyer, could only have been proper if the goods came from Walkertown and were actually owned by the Second Buyer. The Second Buyer needed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that it had offered to purchase the goods from the Seller, paid adequate consideration to the Seller, and the Seller accepted the Second Buyer's offer for the goods.⁸

Throughout trial, the contents of the three shipping containers were not identified. The Second Buyer plainly stated that it did not know whether the contents of the shipping containers came from the last trailers shipped from Walkertown and went so far as to tell First Buyers' counsel to "ask [Appellant] George if this came from those five locations. If they did not come, I will walk away from the case." (Dec. 16 p. 50, lines 11-17; Dec. 16 Transcript p. 51, lines 9-20). Steve Brown, a representative from the Seller, said that the goods from the three containers were similar to all other Walkertown goods. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 175, lines 17-24).

During the hearing for a Temporary Injunction, Second Buyer's counsel aptly likened deciding the case without the contents of the three shipping containers to getting a murder conviction without a body. (June 7 Transcript, p. 6 lines 11-12). Counsel for Second Buyer

⁷ The total weight of goods on the shipping containers was possibly 160,000-170,000 pounds and nearly 107,502 pounds of goods were on the three trailers. At least 53,000 to 63,000 pounds of goods on the three containers could not have come from the three trailers. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 7, lines 6-12; Dec. 17 Transcript p. 190, lines 10-12).

⁸ The necessary elements of a contract are an offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration. Carolina Amusement Co., Inc. v. Connecticut Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 313 S.C. 215, 437 S.E.2d 122 (Ct.App.1993).

stated that, “[F]rankly, [it] is the only way the plaintiff could ever prove its case, is to know what exactly is in those containers.” (June 7 Transcript, p. 9 lines 5-7).

The witnesses who would have known what was on the shipping containers and were there while the containers were being loaded were never asked what goods were on the shipping containers.

The weight of goods the Second Buyer claimed to be missing varied.⁹ Nonetheless, 48,020 pounds of Walkertown goods for which the Second Buyer claimed to have paid for were still in the First Buyers’ warehouse. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 105, lines 18-24) Three air conditioners the Second Buyer had stolen from Walkertown were in the Second Buyer’s warehouse. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 174, lines 24-25, Defendant’s Exhibit 8, Incident Report p. 5, paragraph 9). Between 10 to “at least 15 racks” of the Second Buyer’s Walkertown goods that could have weighed between 2,000 and 3,000 pounds each were in the Second Buyer’s warehouse. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 44, lines 10-21; p. 110, lines 2-16) There were 10 to at least 15 bales of Second Buyer’s goods left in the Second Buyer’s warehouse that could have weighed between 1,000 and 1,400 pounds. (Id.) There were two (2) unloaded trailers of goods parked between the parties’ warehouses. (Defendant’s Exhibit 8, Incident Report, p. 5, paragraph 9; Dec. 17 Transcript p. 61, lines 22-25, p. 62, lines 1-5). The trailers shipped in April 2013 were roughly between 31,000 and 40,000 pounds. (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 4). If, in fact, the Second Buyer was missing any goods, the total weight is probably laying in the parties’ warehouses. There is no reason to take the First Buyers’ goods from the three shipping containers.

⁹ The Respondent told police that 1.1 million pounds of Walkertown goods were shipped to Spartanburg and that 150,000 pounds of goods were missing. The Respondent’s Complaint said that 1,215,759 pounds were shipped to Spartanburg and 210,000 pounds of goods were missing. At trial, the Respondent requested possession of the goods on the three containers, the total weight of which the Respondent estimated to be 160,000 to 170,000 pounds. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 7, lines 6-12). The Respondent also testified that its documents showed 109,439 pounds of goods missing and at least one document was a duplication. (Dec. 16 Transcript p. 58, lines 23-25; Dec. 16 Transcript p. 60, lines 4-7).

2. BECAUSE THE APPELLANTS PURCHASED THE GOODS FROM THE THREE TRAILERS, THE TRIAL COURT COULD NOT PROPERLY GRANT THE RESPONDENT POSSESSION OF THE GOODS FROM THE THREE CONTAINERS.

The Seller could not identify the goods on the shipping containers, but assumed, as the court essentially did in its order, that the goods came from three trailers purchased after April 16, 2013. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 179, lines 3-6). This argument assumes that ownership of the goods on the three trailers would determine ownership of the goods from the three shipping containers though the weight of goods from the three trailers and three containers was different.

The first of the last three trailers purchased from Walkertown was numbered 175 and purchased on April 23, 2013. The second trailer was numbered 5383 and purchased on April 28, 2013. The third trailer was numbered 5350 and purchased on April 30, 2013. (Defendants' Exhibit 14).

For the orders to have been proper, the Second Buyer needed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that it had offered to purchase the goods on the last three trailers, paid adequate consideration for the goods, and the Seller accepted the Second Buyer's offer for the goods.¹⁰

The Second Buyer never made an offer for the goods. The Seller's representative testified that the last four trailers came from the sixth building. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 161, lines 21-24). The Second Buyer admitted that he only purchased from five buildings and that the offer he made the day after the settlement was for goods remaining in the five buildings. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 22, lines 9-12; Oct. 1 Transcript p. 103, lines 8-13).

The Second Buyer did not pay adequate consideration for the goods. The First Buyers and the Seller testified that the First Buyers paid \$39,000 for the goods in the last four trailers, which weighed nearly 152,000 pounds. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 155, lines 10-14; Dec. 17 Transcript p. 177, lines 14-17; Defendant's Exhibit 14) However, the Second Buyer claimed that the Seller accepted his offer of 12.5 cents per pound for the goods remaining in the five buildings and gave the First Buyers \$20,000 to buy the goods. Assuming the last four trailers were on the three containers, the goods would have only cost the Second Buyer approximately \$13,000,

¹⁰ The necessary elements of a contract are an offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration. Carolina Amusement Co., Inc. v. Connecticut Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 313 S.C. 215, 437 S.E.2d 122 (Ct.App.1993).

nearly one third of what the goods on the containers actually cost.¹¹ Ironically, the Second Buyer claimed that it paid 12.5 cents per pound for the goods on the trailers, but the Second Buyer also claimed that the goods from the three containers were the most valuable goods from Walkertown.

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