THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Gordon G. Cooper, Master-In-Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-000605

---

Senneka Trading Incorporated,

Respondent

v.

George O. Nwachukwu, Eleke Ijioma,  
Celtex Export Corporation, Celtex,  
Inc., and Josling Inc.,

Defendants,

v.

Of Whom George O. Nwachukwu and Josling, Inc. are the Appellants.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Matthew A. Henderson  
Joshua M. Henderson  
HENDERSON, BRANDT & VIETH, P.A.  
360 East Henry Street, Suite 101  
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29302  
(864) 582-2962  
Attorneys for Respondent

**RECEIVED**  
AUG 08 2014

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

## **ARGUMENT**

The trial in this case was tried by a Judge alone, by consent of the parties. The actual trial consumed four (4) full days. The trial judge took copious notes and asked multiple questions of all witnesses. The judge rendered his decision within a day or two (2) of the last day of testimony. Most of the testimony given by each of the principals was contradicted by the other party. It is fair to say the parties did not agree on much of anything. The judge was confronted with the age-old question of who was telling the truth, or who was more accurate with regard to his testimony. The testimony of the Respondent was based upon detailed and accurate records furnished by third parties. (Respondents' exhibits). The decision rendered by the trial judge was based upon the evidence as a whole. Given the fact that the credibility of the witnesses was key to the outcome of this case, only the trial judge was in a position to have an objective opinion, and the judge rendered a decision that he believed, based upon the testimony and records presented, and on the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, was appropriate. Since the outcome of this case was based on the testimony given by the witnesses, and by the records offered into evidence, Respondent, although not happy with the trial judge's decision to award the Appellants a sum of money, believes that the decision is, as a whole, consistent with the testimony given, and therefore should be affirmed.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appellants incorrectly characterize the trial judge's decision as an award of specific performance, therefore concluding that the action is one in equity, and resulting in a less deferential standard of review. Although this is not an equity case, the South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized that even in such cases, the Appellate Court "do[es] not disregard the findings of the Master, who saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better position to evaluate their credibility." Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc., 301 S.C. 229, 391 S.E.2d 538 (S.C. 1989).

Respondent's Complaint did not allege an action for specific performance, but, rather, for breach of contract, among other claims. A breach of contract action is an action at law. Consignment Sales, LLC v. Tucker Oil Company, 391 S.C. 266, 705 S.E.2d 73 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010). The trial judge's decision included an award of money damages in favor of Appellants, for what the trial judge determined to be unpaid commissions and baling fees for the textile goods in dispute. The trial judge also determined the ownership of the goods in dispute, of course, determining that the goods were owned by Respondent. An action to determine the ownership of personal property is also an action at law. Watford v. Whetstone, 305 S.C. 535, 409 S.E.2d 791 (S.C. Ct. App. 1991); see also First Palmetto State Bank and Trust Co. v. Boyles, 302 S.C. 136, 394 S.E.2d 313 (S.C. 1990) (holding that a claim and delivery action, for the recovery of personal property, is also an action at law). The trial judge had the discretion to award the ownership of the goods to one of the parties as a part of his ruling, even though there was no specific claim for a declaratory judgment. McMaster v. Strickland, 322 S.C. 451, 472 S.E.2d 623 (S.C. 1996) (holding that a prayer for general relief set out in the complaint allows the trial court to grant relief not specifically requested). The parties' two warehouses are located next door to each other in Spartanburg, South Carolina, and, therefore, it was logical that the trial judge would order the Appellants to deliver the goods next door to the Respondent, having determined that the Respondent owned the goods. This minor aspect of the ruling does not change the action into one for specific performance.

Being an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the standard of review is that "the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. The rule is the same whether the judge's findings are made with or without, a reference. The judge's findings are equivalent

to a jury's findings in a law action." Townes Associates, LTD. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (S.C. 1976) (emphasis added). Consequently, if there is any evidence to support the trial judge's decision, it should be affirmed. Respondent respectfully submits that there is a substantial amount of evidence supporting the decision, as described below.

Appellants have set forth two (2) reasons why they think the trial Judge's verdict should be reversed. Both arguments have to do with Appellants' allegation that Respondent did not "show" that it had purchased the goods in question that were contained in the three (3) containers involved. The second argument presented by the Appellants has to do with the fact that the Appellants allege they purchased the contents of three (3) containers. There is no proof that Appellants paid for anything involved in this particular case. In fact, clearly, all of the merchandise from the five (5) Walkertown locations in question were purchased by and paid for by the Respondent. (Oct. 1 Transcript pp. 51, 92-97; Oct. 2 Transcript pp. 114-115; Dec. 16 Transcript pp. 68, 108-110, 134-136; Dec. 17 Transcript pp. 7-8).

**I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT RESPONDENT WAS THE OWNER OF THE TEXTILE GOODS, BECAUSE THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE SHOWED THAT RESPONDENT PURCHASED THE GOODS AND THAT APPELLANTS HAD MISAPPROPRIATED SOME OF THE GOODS.**

The disputed goods were from Walkertown, according to the testimony of most, if not all, of the witnesses. Throughout the trial, several of the witnesses, including the Appellants' expert, indicated that there are no serial numbers or other ways to identify these goods once they are mixed up or commingled. In other words, it is virtually impossible to tell which goods belonged to which person other than by the testimony as a whole. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 50; Dec. 17 Transcript p. 204).

Regardless of what is set forth above, and that is that it is impossible to tell which goods were which and where they came from once they were commingled, the Respondent produced

records with regard to all of the shipments of goods that it bought from Walkertown, and that were shipped to Appellants' place of business for the purpose of baling and then shipping them to Nigeria. (Respondent's exhibits). This testimony was based upon actual truck bills and certified weight tickets. There was a large discrepancy between the pounds of goods purchased by Respondent and shipped to Appellant, and then the pounds of good Appellants shipped out overseas on behalf of the Respondent. The difference in the two amounts was a shortfall of approximately 207,000 pounds of textile goods. These goods, without question, were purchased by the Respondent from Walkertown, paid for by the Respondent, delivered to Appellants' place of business, and then not shipped from their place of business to Nigeria as had been agreed. Regardless whether the goods could be specifically identified, it was clear all the goods were from Walkertown, had been paid for by Respondent, and that approximately 207,000 pounds of goods had "gone missing" under Appellant's watch. (Oct. 1 Transcript p. 39; Dec. 16 Transcript pp. 103-104).

The disputed containers held approximately 160,000 pounds of textile goods. Upon a joint inspection of the remaining goods at Appellants' warehouse by all the parties, goods that Respondent did not claim any interest in, it was obvious there were no more Walkertown goods left there except for some scraps of old, water-damaged and worthless goods that George told the Court weighed approximately 48,000 pounds and came from Walkertown. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 123-124).

Especially important, in the trial judge's ruling in this case, was the testimony given by Appellants' former employees, Messrs. Billy Johnson and Mark Boyd, that George, the principal of Josling, Inc., had told them, when they worked for him, that everything acquired from Walkertown, that is the contents of the three (3) containers in question, and the other material not

in issue, belonged to the Respondent. (Dec. 16 Transcript pp. 110, 134-135; Dec. 17 Transcript pp. 7-8).

**II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANTS HAD NOT PURCHASED THE TEXTILE GOODS, BECAUSE THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE SHOWED THAT RESPONDENT PURCHASED THE GOODS AND THAT APPELLANTS HAD MISAPPROPRIATED SOME OF THE GOODS.**

The Respondent had an agreement with Appellants, and specifically with George, that the Appellants were to receive only commission and baling fees for each pound of textile goods purchased and baled. The Appellants, and specifically George, on their own, determined to use Respondent's money to buy goods for themselves. Respondent still tried to work things out by making George the conditional offer that he could keep some of the truckloads of goods for himself as long as the Appellants did not convert other goods that Respondent had purchased, those being the goods which had the highest resale value. At the time Bob, Respondent's owner, made this conditional offer by telephone and text message, unbeknownst to Bob, George had already converted the best part of the Respondent's goods to himself, had sold the valuable trimming lace to a third party, and had kept the money for himself. (Oct. 1 Transcript pp. 77-79). This action on the part of George nullified the conditional offer made by Bob, and the trial court agreed, obviously viewing the conflicting testimony in favor of the Respondent. However, it is interesting to note that the trial judge, intending to be ultimately fair, determined that George had not been fully paid as per his agreement with Bob, and awarded George a significant sum of money that Respondent does not believe is properly owed George. Regardless, that is the way the trial judge ruled, and Respondent is willing to accept that ruling. From Respondent's point of view, the record would seem to support that George was owed a much smaller sum than the sum awarded him by the trial judge (i.e. a total of \$0.06 per pound for baling and commissions, rather than the \$0.10 per pound referenced in the judge's order).

With regard to the testimony, Mark Boyd, one of Appellants' former employees, testified that the trimming laces belonging to Respondent were loaded, by Appellants' employees, onto a container truck belonging to Appellants' customer, Ms. Pinto. (Dec. 16 Transcript pp. 120-121, 141). In other words, this was clear proof that George had converted some of the valuable goods, that being the trimming lace, for his own use, and had sold this trimming lace, which without question Respondent had paid for, to a third party, keeping the sales proceeds.

Billy Johnson, another one of Appellants' former employees, testified the trimming laces were always set aside at the direction by George (Dec. 17 Transcript pp. 16-18) and ultimately were put into the container belonging to Ms. Pinto. Mr. Johnson also testified that he actually helped load the valuable trimming laces onto Ms. Pinto's container. (Dec. 17 Transcript pp. 13-15).

Appellants were asked to prove by bank records that George had \$69,600 in his bank account before he started dealing with Respondent in January, 2013 in order to show that they, in fact, had the money to purchase any goods on their own. Instead of answering the questions, he went on to give a far-fetched answer in an apparent attempt to cloud the issues by saying "ask Bob how many containers he cleared for me last year." (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 146).

Only the trial judge could determine who was telling the truth or who was more accurate with regard to the testimony, regardless of the fact that the Appellants seemed to be trying to cloud the issues, and surely failed to produce any credible information. The testimony given by Appellant's principal, George, was contradictory and confusing. For example, George testified that he always paid Cottonall (the seller of the Walkertown goods, and other textile goods) by wire transfer, but that the price of goods would have been less for a cash payment. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 103). However, when asked to provide proof that he had paid for any of the

Walkertown goods, George said that he paid cash, but that paying cash did not get him a better deal. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 177). George also provided a confusing answer when asked a simple question concerning the ownership structure of this business. (Dec. 17 Transcript p. 142).

The testimony given by Bob was supported by facts and records. Basically, it was Bob's position that he bought "x" amount of goods, that was shipped to Appellants' place of business, and when shipped out, was approximately 207,000 pounds less than it should have been. Since the missing merchandise was always in Appellants' possession, and since Appellants had the three (3) containers which contained merchandise consistent with that which Respondent had purchased from Walkertown, it stands to reason the trial judge could easily find that the three (3) containers of Walkertown goods belonged to Respondent who, without question, paid for it. (Oct. 1 Transcript pp. 94-97).

In summary, given the fact that so much of the testimony given by one side was contradicted by the other side, the trial judge did well to reach the conclusions that he did. Without question, the most valuable goods were converted, as shown by that testimony and evidence, by the Appellants, and disposed of without Respondent's knowledge or consent. Given the conflicting and contradictory testimony, it cannot be challenged, and it is Respondent's position, that the trial judge reached appropriate conclusions, that were fully supported by the testimony and evidence, and his ruling should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, Respondent asks this Court to affirm the decision rendered by the trial judge.